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HISTORIC CONTEXT

The three buildings covered in this HABS Report are all contributing buildings in the Barber-Colman
Company Historic District in Rockford, Illinois. As described on pages 5 and 6 in the National Register
nomination form for the Barber-Colman District prepared by Granacki Historic Consultants,

The Barber-Colman Company was established at the southwest corner of Loomis and Rock
Streets in 1900, and gradually acquired eight blocks over its 50-year expansion and building
program. Masonry loft, factory, and garage structures were concentrated between Rock Street
and the railroad tracks, moving south from Loomis Street to south of Montague Street. There
was a recreational field and a series of frame auto sheds at the south end of the site. The entire
site was flat and had its own internal street pattern, generally following the north/south
alignments of River Street and the alley between Rock and River streets that were vacated in the
1920s.

Originally 20 permanent masonry industrial structures and two gatehouses were located on the
Barber Colman site. The structures were called “Sections” and were numbered by the Barber
Colman Company in order of their dates of construction. Today there are fifteen structures
ranging from one to three stories tall that are still standing, including seven that are considered
architecturally significant. They represent a wide variety of industrial types built between 1907
and 1948 (with additions through 1952). They include two, three-story lofts of standard mill
construction (Sections 4 and 9); two multi-story lofts of reinforced concrete construction
(Sections 5 and 13); and one loft of steel skeleton frame construction (Section 10). There are
three factory types with roof truss structural systems (Sections 17, 18, and 19); one combined
loft/factory (Section 12); three industrial garages (Sections 11, 16, and 20); and a powerhouse
(Section 7). The remaining two structures are one-story gatehouses, one of brick construction
and the other concrete block.

The Barber-Colman structures display cohesiveness in the way they are sited on the rectilinear
street grid, and the use of similar materials are evocative of a particular time period in industrial
construction. The structures are rectilinear in form, in common brick or red brick with stone
detailing and/or exposed concrete structural framing. Roofs are flat, bowed, or sawtooth.
Multi-light windows, mostly metal-framed, are a strong unifying feature, and there are monitors
and clerestories on many of the factories and garages. There are some large vacant parcels
where historic structures were demolished, but those that remain sit near, or in a few cases,
adjacent to each other, and several are linked with overhead pedestrian bridges. The blocks
between Rock Street and Main Street were once used as surface parking lots for the company,
but are now vast vacant parcels that set off this industrial complex from the rest of the
residential and commercial neighborhood, and show off the distinctive front facades of two lofts
and a factory.
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The significance of the Barber-Colman Company and the buildings at this location is explained in the
National Register nomination on pages 25-68. The following summary comes from pages 25 and 26.

The Barber-Colman Company is locally significant for history as one of Rockford’s largest
machine tools design and manufacturing companies. Its hundreds of industrial machines and
machine parts had an important impact on the development of many common products. Most
of the machines changed the way just one part of the manufacturing process was conducted, or
provided just on part of a much larger product. But the number of products affected was vast.
Barber-Colman estimated that its textile machines were used by 90 percent of the weaving mills
in this country (Rockford Republic, August 9, 1965). These machines made a major contribution
to reducing costs and increasing efficiency in the production of quality fabrics. The company’s
hobbing machines and cutting tools were used by other industries to make precise gears for
typewriters, cars, trucks, tractors and airplanes. Industrial instruments were used to control
equipment in the chemical, metalworking and plastic industries, while their small motors were
used in copy machines, tape players, vending machines and many small electrical appliances.
The temperature control division was responsible for the development and manufacture of a
variety of thermostats and humidity controllers for commercial, institutional, and industrial
buildings. The company maintained factories throughout the United States and distribution
centers for their products all over the world but maintained its headquarters at this site and in
Rockford until 1982. Besides the impact felt worldwide through its branches and array of
products, the company was a leading employer in Rockford for decades and a good corporate
citizen through its employee programs and civic contributions.

The Barber-Colman industrial complex is also locally significant for architecture and engineering,
for containing an outstanding concentration of the most representative industrial building types
that illustrate the evolution of 20" century industrial architecture. There are very good
examples of three principal types of loft construction including standard mill, beam and girder
reinforced concrete, and flat slab reinforced concrete construction. As the one-story factory
began replacing loft structures for manufacturing processes that required larger clear spans,
those built at Barber-Colman display several different and dramatic roof truss systems. And the
powerhouse, as is typical of other industrial and municipal utility complexes, is rendered with a
fine attention to architectural stylistic detail. The 1948 loft building that housed the company’s
offices has a distinctive primary facade that is expressive of the time it was designed. Most
structures on the site retain a great deal of original integrity; where alterations exist, they
appear to be largely reversible. The use of red brick and multi-light windows in the majority of
the structures adds a visual cohesiveness. Although no master architect has been identified, the
grouping of structures can be considered architecturally significant for embodying the distinctive
characteristics of the most typical industrial structures of the early 20™ century. All fifteen
industrial structures still standing within the area bounded by Loomis Street on the north, Rock
Street on the west, Knowlton Street on the south, and the railroad tracks on the east contribute
to the character of the historic district.
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Detailed information on the three buildings covered by this HABS Report — Sections 10, 17 and 19 — is
provided on the pages that follow. Sources of information and research methodology for all three
structures are included at the conclusion of the architectural description of Section 19.
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Location: 1302 Rock Street [Section 10]

Present Owner: City of Rockford

Present Use: Vacant office/industrial building

Significance: As outlined above, the Barber-Colman Company complex is significant because of the
company’'s major role in Rockford’s storied industrial past, and because the collection of buildings
represents the evolution of industrial architecture and development throughout the first half of the 20'"
century. Taken out of the context of the overall complex, each of these three individual buildings would

lose much of its historic significance.

PART |. HISTORICAL INFORMATION

A. Physical History

1. Date(s) of construction: 1948

2. Architect: Ward Ranodyne Shedd is listed as architect on some permits for buildings at Barber-
Colman, and as structural engineer on others. Granacki Historic Consultants, authors of the National
Register nomination for the Barber-Colman Company Historic District, include the following
information on Mr. Shedd on page 38 of the nomination form:

Ward Shedd served as chief engineer in the Department of Service and Maintenance
from 1918 to 1952. This department was responsible for repair and maintenance of the
physical plant and included electricians, millwrights, carpenters, pipe fitters, janitors and
laborers. Asreported in the June 1924 issue of the BCA News regarding the engineers in
the Department of Service and Maintenance, there were experts “on hand to perform
almost any task except the construction of a large building.” At a time when industrial
structures were seldom designed by architects, plant engineers who understood the
unique needs of the particular industry were often responsible for designing these
utilitarian structures. Shedd’s name appears on several of the building permits found
for buildings at the Barber-Colman site, and it may be assumed that he also designed
others during his position as factory engineer.

Shedd was born in Girard Township, Michigan, July 8, 1879. He graduated from
Michigan State University with a Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering in 1902
and later taught steel-making (early materials) in the College of Engineering. He married
Alta Mae Gatchell Shedd in 1913 in Fredonia, Michigan, and they had three sons, John,
Robert W., and Wilfred, born between 1913 and 1928, who were also graduates of MSU
in Mechanical Engineering. He lived in Rockford from about 1913, until his death in June
1964.



HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDINGS SURVEY
BARBER COLMAN BUILDINGS 10, 17 & 19

IL HABS No. W0-2004-01C
IL HABS No. W0Q-2004-01D
IL HABS No. W0-2004-01E

(Page 5)

To date, no architect or engineer has been positively associated with the design of most
of the buildings on the Barber-Colman site. Ward Shedd is listed as the engineer of
record on the permits for Section 5, the brick and concrete block 6 floor addition, May
9, 1952, and Section 18, the steel and brick machine shop, June 7, 1940. As a member
of the Rockford Masonic Lodge #102, he was also responsible for the reconstruction of
the First Congregational Church into their new quarters in 1918. Although specific
attribution has not been found, it is reasonable to assume that many of the structures
completed during Shedd’s service as Factory Engineer may have actually been
engineered by him.

Original and subsequent owners:

+  Original owner: Barber-Colman Company

*+  Deed from Barber-Colman Co. to Reed-Chatwood, Inc., 8/31/1984

+  Deed from Reed-Chatwood, Inc. to Chatwood, LLC, 6/30/1996

+ Deed from Chatwood, LLC to Albany Bank & Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee of Trust #11-5538

+  Deed from Albany Bank & Trust Company, N.A,, as Trustee of Trust #11-5538 to the City of
Rockford, 1/23/2002

Builder, contractor, supplier: Contractor for the original construction was the Security Building
Company of Rockford IL

Original plans and construction: Not available.

Alterations and additions: Prior to a series of fires beginning in November 2009, exterior alterations
were minimal — a few fixed wood windows were replaced with sliding glass on the west (front)
fagade. Building permits show construction of a 24’ x 104’ block and steel addition in 1955. This is
one of the projects where Ward Shedd is listed as the architect on the building permit. Construction
was by the Security Building Company.

After the initial fire on November 19, 2009, most of the third floor windows at the north end of the
building (where it connects to Section 5) were taken out. In addition, four ground level windows
that had been boarded up on the west facade between the two sets of entryways have been
replaced with plexiglass.

Historical Context

The history of the Barber-Colman Company and the evolution of this complex are fully explained in
both the Historic and Architectural Resources Survey Report completed in 2005 and in the National
Register nomination for the Barber-Colman Company Historic District which was listed on the
Register in 2006. Both documents were prepared by Granacki Historic Consultants.
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This particular building was the last one constructed on the site that still remains. The only one built
after World War |l, it stands in the place of the original Section 10 built in 1916 and demolished by
the Barber-Colman Company in 1948. The original Section 10 was a two-story brick warehouse with
a much smaller footprint of 54’ x 146’.

PART . ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION

A. General Statement

As described in the 2005 Survey referenced above, Section 10 is a 3-story rectangular, brick, steel
skeleton frame building with a flat roof and tile coping that is 7 bays wide and 7 bays across. The
main facade faces west toward Rock Street and is visible from South Main Street (IL Route 2).

The main front entry is in the center bay and is one of the most significant features in the building.
It contains Art Deco elements, specifically stacked bond brickwork piers that step inward to highlight
the entrance. (See photograph W0-2004-01C.19.) There is a second entry in the second bay from
the north. This has three recessed metal entry doors and three narrow rectangular transoms above.
Full height glass block walls curve inward at the corners to accentuate this second entrance, shown
in photograph W0-2004-01C.18.

B. Description of Exterior

Over-all dimensions: 151’ x 152’

=

2. Foundations: Poured concrete.

3. Walls: Exterior walls are brick, laid in common bond with every seventh course laid in rowlock
courses. Concrete horizontal stringcourses are above and below windows as lintels and sills,
There are brick piers between the windows, laid in stacked bond to delineate the bays.

4. Structural system: Steel skeleton frame building.

5. Porches, stoops, balconies, bulkheads: Both the primary and secondary entries are at-grade with
their outside entryways being of the same concrete as the sidewalk running along the front of
the building.

6. Chimneys: None.

7. Openings
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a. Doorways and doors: There are two sets of public entrances to the building from its primary
west facade. The employees’ entrance lies in the center and is one of the most significant
features of the building. Granacki’s 2005 survey describes this entry as Art Deco in feeling
and accented with stacked bond brickwork piers that step inward. It has paired wood doors
with wood frames and transoms. Because of the silver paint used on the doors, they appear
to be metal.

The main public entrance is in the second bay from the north on the west side of the
building. It consists of three recessed wood entry doors with narrow transoms above. As
with the employee entrance, the silver paint used on the doors gives them the appearance
of being metal. Full height glass block walls curve inward at the corner, accenting this
second entryway.

There is a wood overhead door on the east (rear) facade of the building at its south end near
where it connects with Section 19. The lower half of the door contains 18 panels while the
upper half contains an equal number of wood-framed panes. This is a typical overhead door
on the site. Nearer the north end of this facade, there are two wood service doors and a
larger utility entrance into the building.

On both the east and west sides of the connector between Section 10 and Section 5 to the
north, there is a wood overhead door and a wood service door. The overhead doors have
one row of four wood panels, one row of six wood panels, and three rows of six wood-
framed windows each. The lower half of the service doors are paneled wood while the
upper portion contains a single-pane window. Above this is a transom window that reaches
the same height as the top of the overhead door. (See photograph W0-2004-01C.2.)

b. Windows and shutters: Windows on all visible elevations follow the same basic pattern.
Each group of windows consists of four wide single-pane fixed windows below and 42 blocks
of glass block above. A few of the fixed windows have been replaced with sliders on the
west facade. As was mentioned above, one set of fixed windows has been replaced with
plexiglass, and several windows on the third floor are missing as a result of fire damage.
Concrete horizontal stringcourses are above and below windows as lintels and sills.

8. Roof: The roof of Section 10 is a flat, built-up roof with one projection on the rear (east) facade
to accommodate the stair tower and freight elevator penthouse. There is a system of clay tile
edging along all edges of the roof. Two holes were punched through the roof by the Rockford
Fire Department in putting out the fire there in November 2009.

C. Description of the Interior
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Floor plans: No actual floor plans showing current layout exist, and new detailed ones cannaot
be drawn because of the condition of the interior spaces in Section 10. However, sketch plans
showing how the space was used when the property was owned by Reed Chatwood do exist.
These combined with recollections of former Barber-Colman employees provide a general idea
of how the space was used on all three floors.

The center of each floor is occupied with men’s and women’s restrooms (one each), space for
supplies to be kept, and the Motostairs escalator. The building’s only stairwell is located at the
rear (east) side of the building, roughly 35 feet from the north end of Section 10.

When occupied by Barber-Colman, all of Section 10 was used for offices except for parts of the
first floor which were used for supportive services. Uses floor by floor during the last 25 years
the building was occupied by Barber-Colman were as follows:

¢ The first floor included the main reception area inside the south doors on Rock Street;
offices for personnel, purchasing, plant engineering and security; the phone switchboard; a
copying and reproduction area; and an area for cleaning staff that included some office
space as well as room to store cleaning supplies. The plant engineering and reproduction
area were at the back (east side) of the building. With the exception of the reception area,
the entire floor was blocked off for offices and cubicles.

¢+ The second floor included engineering offices and a large computer room and area for
computer programmers. The computer room housed a large mainframe computer system.
It was located on the east wall and took up a fairly large percentage of the area. It was
walled off separately from the rest of the floor and separately air conditioned as was
common practice at the time.

¢ The third floor housed executive offices at the center on the Rock Street (west) side of the
building. It also included the company’s board room, planning office, and accounting.
Executive offices were true separate offices; most of the other space was delineated with
wallboard cubicles with some being left open. Executive offices and the board room may
have had carpeting; the rest of the floor was probably tile.

Reed Chatwood used part of the building for its own offices and leased parts out to tenants.
Based on sketch plans they provided the City of Rockford, the first floor was virtually all tenant
space around the perimeter with commons uses, such as the restrooms and storage areas, in
the center. Reed Chatwood’s offices occupied the second floor. Roughly 18% of the third floor
was tenant space with most of the remaining 82% left vacant. [Copies of these fairly rough
sketch plans are included as Supplemental Material.]
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Section 10 does have a basement which is largely an open space except for areas walled off for
mechanical systems and the stairwell. It also provides access to tunnels at both the north and
south ends.

Stairways: There is a single staircase on the east side of the building, approximately 35’ from the
northeast corner of the building. Staircases have terrazzo tile landings, wood rails and metal
newel posts. There is also a freight elevator next to the stairwell, and there are two escalators
at the center of the building. The latter are described in the National Register nomination as
being Motostair escalators “made of stainless steel with a sleek streamlined design.”
Unfortunately, all of the decorative elements of these escalators have been removed by
scavengers.

Flooring: Floors are concrete; some sections have been covered with vinyl tile while some may
probably had carpeting at one time.

Wall and ceiling finish: There are acoustic tile drop ceilings throughout the building. Wall
finishes vary. Original outer walls appear to be mostly concrete block. Offices are partitioned
off throughout the building with walls made of drywall. In some cases, these extend all the way
to the ceiling; in others, they are only 6’ high. Inside the north entrance on the first floor, there
is “wood” paneling.

Openings: Interior openings are largely birch flat panel doors with a single, square window.
Some have air circulation vents near the bottom, and a few have kickplates. Windows have
birch sills and frames and are not operable.

Decorative features and trim: Other than the stainless steel on the escalators, the only attempt
at any sort of decorative trim appears to be the paneling added inside the north entrance.
Unfortunately the decorative parts of the Motostair escalator have been stripped by scavengers.
A photo of this as it was is on page 52 of the National Register nomination for Barber-Colman.
Its current appearance is shown in photograph W0-2004-01C.35.

Hardware: Has been stripped out.

Mechanical equipment: Section 10 is the only building on the site with central air conditioning.
This operated through rooftop heating and cooling units located near the center of the building.
There are also built-in room units on the first floor, north side. Lighting in the building is
provided by standard 1960s’ fluorescent fixtures.
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General setting and orientation: Section 10 is part of the more public face of the Barber-Colman
campus. Its front fagade faces west and sits at the end of Montague Street, a major east-west
collector street in southwest Rockford. Since all of the parcels lying between Rock and South
Main Streets are vacant, the building is visible from South Main Street, which is lllinois Route 2
in this area. Section 10 joins Section 19 to the south and connects to Section 5 to the north via a
three-story connector that is roughly 20 feet wide.

Construction of Section 10 brought a significant change to the site as Montague Street had gone
through previously. An 1871 map of Rockford shows Montague extending as far east as what is
now Buchanan Street with houses in the area. A 1908 Barber-Colman site plan still shows
dwellings in the Montague Street portion of the site with lumber sheds just to the north of the
street. The 1934 Barber-Colman site plan shows the original Section 10 coming up to the
northern edge of Montague with a craneway in the right-of-way. While there are still dwellings
shown on the west side of Rock Street on this plan, only one remains on the west side of Rock in
the area now covered by the south end of the existing Section 10.

The east facade faces an internal drive with Sections 9 and 18 on the opposite side of the drive,
thereby offering a limited view of this facade. Only the top floor of the south facade is visible
above the roof of Section 19. Visibility of the north fagade is also severely limited due to the
small gap of roughly 20 feet between this building and Section 5 to the north.

Historic landscape design: There is no landscaping on the building site, historic or otherwise.

Outbuildings: There are no outbuildings specifically for Section 10.
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Location: 1318 Rock Street [Section 17 — Bakelite Plant]
Present Owner: City of Rockford

Present Use: Vacant office/industrial building

PART |. HISTORICAL INFORMATION

A.

Physical History
Date(s) of construction: 1936 (original construction); 1966 (addition)

Architect: Ward Ranodyne Shedd is listed as the architect for the original building; building permits
do not indicate who designed the addition.

Original and subsequent owners:

+  Original owner: Barber-Colman Company

+  Deed from Barber-Colman Co. to Reed-Chatwood, Inc., 8/31/1984

+  Deed from Reed-Chatwood, Inc. to Chatwood, LLC, 6/30/1996

+  Deed from Chatwood, LLC to Albany Bank & Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee of Trust #11-5538

¢ Deed from Albany Bank & Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee of Trust #11-5538 to the City of
Rockford, 1/23/2002

Builder, contractor, supplier: Security Building Company was the contractor for both the original
construction and the addition.

Original plans and construction: Not available.

Alterations and additions: A one-story, brick and metal rectangular addition (40’ x 150’) was built at
the south end of the building in 1966. The only significant alteration to the exterior comes from the
use of a spray-on textured coating to cover the top % of the windows on the building. While the
actual material used for this is unknown, it is known that it is not asbestos. (See photograph WO-
2004-01D.5.)

One substantial remodel was done on the interior in 1941 with the addition of a steel and concrete
mezzanine level to house showers, laundry facilities and other similar uses.

Historical Context
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Section 17 is the only building on the site that was built in the 1930s. Two buildings — Section 11 and
13 — were built in the 1920s and three — Sections 10, 18 and 19 — were constructed in the ‘40s.
Section 17 carries the name of “Bakelite Plant” and was used for manufacture of a variety of
products out of Bakelite. These may have included everything from housing for electric erasers to
parts for textile machinery.

PART 1l. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION

A. General Statement

As described in the 2005 Survey referenced above and in City of Rockford building records, the
Bakelite Plant is a one-story, brick rectangular factory building. The original footprint of the building
was 89'8” x 151'8” with the 1966 addition adding another 40’ x 151’5” to the south end of the
building. The original structure has a steel skeleton frame that is four bays across by seven bays
deep and has a sawtooth truss system supporting four sawtooth roofs. The addition is a one-story
brick and metal rectangle on the south end of the building. It is a steel skeleton structure with a
Howe roof truss system, one bay across and four bays deep. The Bakelite Plant is located in the
eastern third of the site and is not readily visible from South Main Street.

B. Description of Exterior

1. Overall dimensions: 130’ x 152",

2. Foundation: Poured concrete.

3. Walls: The original part of the building has brick walls laid in common bond with every seventh
course laid as headers. The addition has a brick apron wall along the east and west facades and
a concrete block apron wall along the south fagade. Above the apron wall are ribbon windows,
and above them, walls of corrugated aluminum siding.

4. Structural system: Both the original building and the addition have a steel skeleton structure.

5. Porches, stoops, balconies, bulkheads: The building is at grade as are all of its entry points.

6. Chimneys: None.

7. Openings
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a. Doorways and doors: All doorways are on the east and west elevations of the building. On
the west elevation, there are two paired doorways in which the lower half of each door is
wood and the upper half is glass divided into four lights. Both of these doorways have a pair
of six-light fixed windows above them, with the ones above the northernmost doorway
covered by wood. Within the addition area of this fagade there is a wood paneled overhead
door with a row of windows that have been boarded.

The east elevation contains three wood paneled overhead doors and, next to the
southernmost overhead door in the addition, one paneled wood service door. All of these
doors included windows at one time, but all of these have been boarded. The two doors in
the original part of the building probably had windows above them; these have been
replaced by plain wooden boards.

b. Windows and shutters: Windows on all elevations of the original part of the building are
almost full height metal fixed windows with 30 lights (5 x 6) and an operable pivot section,
and a 15-light transom above. The top % of each window has been covered on the outside
with an applied textured coating that was sprayed on. The exact nature of the spray-on
material is unknown, but it is not asbestos. There are ribbon windows in the addition above
the apron wall consisting of 6-light metal sash.

8. Roof: The original portion of the building has a sawtooth roof with four sections of sawtooth.
The roofing is covered with tar, but the structural materials and coping are made of wood. The
addition has a flat, built-up roof.

C. Description of the Interior: Floors are of concrete with some areas covered with creosote-soaked
wood blocks, most of which have buckled. There are very few permanent walls within the building,
the most prominent one being what had been the south exterior wall until the addition was built.
This was left virtually intact although some of the windows, especially towards the west end of the
building, have been covered. (See photograph WO0-2004-01D.14.) Some wallboard partitions
dividing parts of the space for offices still remain. There is a metal staircase leading up to the
mezzanine level; however, conditions in early 2010 were not safe enough to go up the stairs to
inspect the upper level. Lights in the building are electric, some with historic pendants, but most are
fluorescent fixtures. A sprinkler system and fans for ventilation are on the ceiling. No original
machines or equipment remain.

D. Site

1. General setting and orientation: Section 17 sits in the middle of the Barber-Colman complex.
Historically, it was surrounded by other buildings on the site. There were several auto sheds to
the south of the building, all of which have been demolished over the years, some by Barber-
Colman and some by Reed Chatwood. These were single-story structures, generally 143’ long
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and either 16’ or 32’ deep. Of the industrial buildings that surrounded Section 17 — Sections 14,
15, 16, 18 and 20 — only Section 18 remains. As a result, this building sits in the middle of a
major industrial site but also on the edge of a substantial vacant area.

The most visible portion of Section 17 is its southern fagade. This presents an essentially blank
wall with a ribbon of windows to the south.

Historic landscape design: There is no landscaping on the building site, historic or otherwise.

Outbuildings: There are no outbuildings specifically for Section 17.
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Location: 1316 Rock Street [Section 19 — Steel & Cast Iron Storage Building]

Present Owner: City of Rockford

Present Use: Vacant office/industrial building

PART I. HISTORICAL INFORMATION

A.

Physical History
Date(s) of construction: 1941 (original construction); 1944 (addition)

Architect: Ward Ranodyne Shedd is listed as the engineer for the original building; building permits
do not indicate who designed the addition.

Original and subsequent owners:

+  Original owner: Barber-Colman Company

+  Deed from Barber-Colman Co. to Reed-Chatwood, Inc., 8/31/1984

* Deed from Reed-Chatwood, Inc. to Chatwood, LLC, 6/30/1996

. Deed from Chatwood, LLC to Albany Bank & Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee of Trust #11-5538

*  Deed from Albany Bank & Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee of Trust #11-5538 to the City of
Rockford, 1/23/2002

Builder, contractor, supplier: Contractor for both the original construction and the later addition was
the Security Building Company of Rockford IL.

Original plans and construction: Not available.

Alterations and additions: One addition was made to the building in 1944, a 22’ x 40’ second story
with a steel and concrete floor for the cafeteria. This lies at the north end of the building where it
joins Section 10.

Alterations to the exterior consist of one large window opening on the west facade being filled in
with concrete block, and removal of all the ground level windows on the east fagade leaving empty
openings.

Historical Context
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See the first two pages of this report for a summary of the historic context of the Barber-Colman site
as a whole. The history of the company and the evolution of this complex are spelled out in both
the Historic and Architectural Resources Survey Report completed in 2005 and the National Register
nomination for the Barber-Colman Company Historic District which resulted in its being listed on the
National Register in 2006. Both documents were prepared by Granacki Historic Consultants.

This particular building was constructed on the site of the club house that the company had
provided for its employees. Based on building permit records, this had been a two-story brick
structure. A 1934 drawing shows the club house as being roughly 45’ x 25’. Photographic records
housed at the Midway Village Museum in Rockford IL show that the club house included such
amenities as pool tables and card tables.

PART Il. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION

A. General Statement

As described in the 2005 Survey referred to above, Section 19 is a one-story brick building of steel
skeleton frame construction with varying roof heights. The building faces east and is six bays wide
and six bays deep with a simply fenestrated west (rear) wall along Rock Street. A slight stepped
parapet with clay tile coping accentuates the building bays, including two rooftop monitors crossing
from east to west. The south wall is a multi-light, metal window curtain wall with concrete block
below. Glazing from all of these windows has been removed so the window openings are just that —
openings. (See photograph W0-2004-01E.8.) Sitting just outside the south end of the building is a
pair of iron crane rails that run the full width of the building. (Photograph W0-2004-01E.9) There is
an additional craneway extending from the north end of Section 19 across the alley to Section 18,
the machine shop.

1. Overall dimensions: 241" x 170’.

2. Foundation: Poured concrete.

3. Walls: Exterior walls are brick laid in common bond with every sixth course as header courses.
4. Structural system: Steel skeleton frame building.

5. Porches, stoops, balconies, bulkheads: None.

6. Chimneys: None.

7. Openings
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a. Doorways and doors: There is one metal service door on the west fagade near the north
end of the building. On the south elevation, there is a wood overhead door at the west end,
a much larger steel overhead door in the center, and a paneled wood service door with a
steel surround next to the latter. The service door had a window in it at one time but this
has been replaced with a board. The east fagade has two overhead doors and two service
doors. Going from south to north, there is an aluminum overhead door, a wood paneled
service door, a steel overhead door (where the craneway connecting to Section 18 is
located) and a wood paneled service door with four lights and a larger wood frame.

b. Windows and shutters: There is one small 1:1 double hung window on the small north
elevation visible at the northwest corner of the building. On the west facade, exterior
windows are at the upper level of the monitor bays and include paired 12-light fixed sash
and 20-light sash with operable pivots. Based on visible changes in the brick, one very large
window has been completely bricked in near the north end of the west fagade while what
are now 12-light fixed sash were initially 20-light sash with the lower 2 rows of lights having
been bricked in. Two window openings near ground level and below the northern monitor
bays have been boarded. Sills are of concrete.

At the time the buildings at Barber-Colman were surveyed by Granacki Historic Consultants
in 2005, there was a multi-light, metal window curtain wall running virtually the full length
of the south facade. These windows have all been removed, leaving all of the openings
open. (Photograph WO-2004-01E.7)

Windows along the lower level of the single-story portion of the east facade have been
removed as well. Upper level windows remain intact as do windows in the two-story
portion of the building. The latter includes a 32-light metal frame fixed window situated
between the two service doors at the north end of this side of the building, and two paired
25-light windows, one above the 32-light window and one above an area of similar size
which probably included a similar window at one time but which has been closed in with
concrete blocks.

At the ends of the two monitor bays, there are three sets of windows — 10-light paired
rectangular windows set horizontally in the center, flanked by single 16-light vertical fixed
metal windows. The monitor roofs themselves have clerestory windows that are continuous
18-light fixed metal windows with 8-light operable upper awning sash.

8. Roof: The roof is supported by an inverted Warren truss roof system that is visible on the
interior. The roof form is flat with two monitors, and the surface is built-up.
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C. Description of the Interior: As might be expected from references to it as the steel and cast iron
storage building, Section 19's interior is largely open. It has concrete floors and a system of
craneways throughout, reflecting its use by Barber-Colman for storage of materials such as rolled
steel prior to their use in the company’s manufacturing operations somewhere else on the site.
Some spaces are walled in with concrete block, probably to protect major mechanical systems, while
a few small areas have wallboard partitions, probably for offices. There is a second floor at the
north end of the building, now inaccessible, which housed a cafeteria. This included a private dining
room for executives and their guests separate from the main employee cafeteria.

D. Site

1. General setting and orientation: Section 19 is the southernmost building on the Barber-Colman
site on Rock Street. However, because of its function as a working part of an industrial facility,
access to the building is from the south and east — the interior of the site — not the west which is
the most visible to the public. View of the south end of the building is obscured by the large
steel craneway and a structure sitting just outside the building which may have been used for
coal storage.

2. Historic landscape design: There is no landscaping on the building site, historic or otherwise.

3. Outbuildings: There is the aforementioned coal storage structure which is an open-ended
structure, roughly 18’ x 10°, built primarily of concrete block. There is also a small (30’ x 17’)
brick structure at the southwest corner of the site, just inside the chain link fence surrounding
the property, that appears to have been used primarily for storage.
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PART IV. METHODOLOGY OF RESEARCH

A. Research methodology consisted of investigating existing records, primarily the historic resources
survey done in 2005 and the nomination form for listing on the National Register of Historic Places
done in 2006. Other resources were taken from the environmental assessment done in 2000, and
materials found in the Barber-Colman facility after the City of Rockford became owner in 2002.

This information was compiled by the staff of the Rockford Historic Preservation Commission, then
combined with staff’s on-site observation of the structures in 2009 and 2010 and with building
permit records from City of Rockford files. Photography was done in December 2009.

B. Research staff

1. Text was prepared by Ginny Gregory, Planner Il and Secretary of the Rockford Historic
Preservation, 425 East State Street, Rockford IL 61104. Phone: 815-987-5618.

2. Photographs were taken and prepared by Wayne Dust, Planning Coordinator, City of Rockford,
425 East State Street, Rockford IL 61104. Phone: 815-987-5636.
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INDEX OF SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

Listing of building permit records for the Barber-Colman complex (4 pages)

Rough floor plan sketches given to the City of Rockford by the previous owner, Reed Chatwood
(6 pages)

1908 building elevations and site plan for the Barber-Colman Company (1 page)
1934 building elevations and site plan for the Barber-Colman Company (2 pages)

Summary of interview with Jack Crandall , retired Corporate Planning Administrator for the
Barber-Colman Company (1 page)
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SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL

Listing of building permit record for the Barber-Colman complex



00S$ Auedwo) Buipjing A314n2ag T X 9T ‘Bulp|ing 881035 3o1iq T| uonannsuod| Ty6T/vz/TT V80IHT
000°0SS Auedwo) Suipjing Ajunoas| ppays piem OLT X, TYZ ‘@snoystem [291s 13 ya1g T| uonanisuod|  Tv61/vE/S 6T VETLET
00€S ‘0D "Ig7 11349A3 3snoy gna 1q Alois-z ¥3a4m| UoidniIsue) I¥61/9/S 86658
wooJ 3UlAlRI3.
404 pasn aq 01 wJojiejd 33240U00/M
0052$ Auedwo) Buipjing A1noas| ppays piepm uonippe 321q AJois-T ,Z6 X ,8T| uolianasuod|  ove1/8/TT g9t£8
000'0tS PP3YS pIEM 94T X ,0£T doys auiydew 3duqg 73 [233s T[ uonaniIsuod 0v6T/L/9 V930ET
yoea 6,651 X ,,9,8€ ‘sadhko|dws V8TLZT
000'SS Auedwo) Buip|ing AJndas| ppays piem 40 9sn Joj sadesed ajeanrd Alois-T z| uonINIISUOD) 6E6T/£2/8 IYLTLZT
000's$ (AND 3JoA maN) F3o)1ay M IN g ‘dol ,z,6 ‘95eq ST IRISOWS 09T | UOIIdNIISUOD 6E6T/4/8 899162
uosuyorria uoiaadsul Fuiquin|d Suiquinid| £€6T/ST/TT[esnoypsens /1207
00€$ Auedwo) Juip|ing A1lundas PPaYsS 4 M 221J40 S,UBLL2leM 3oMq ZT X 0T | uoiannsuo)d| /EGT/0E/OT [esnoypiengy VerZeT
000'2$ Auedwo) Suipjing Allundasg ,6GT X 8¢ ‘@3eJed a8e.03s Aluosew [ uoipaniisuo) LEBT/RT/0T VEEZZT
000°TS Auedwo) 8uip|ing Alunoag pPpays plem sasodand 32140 1oy 100)4 1ST |9poway| uoonnsuo) LE6T/92/L 9999
321440 13 Aloyoey
000°pS Auedwo) Buipjing Ayunaag ppays plep| Joj uonippe Aluosew 05 x ,z,8z A1ois-p| uononiisuod|  /€61/9Z/L 45999
000SS W, ZPT X ,9,8€ 98e.ed awely 1 21q T| uononnsuod|  9e6T/z/zT VOL6TT
005S uonippe age.ed a1eAud| uononisuod| 9e6T/LT/TT 49379
000'9TS Auedwo) Buip|ing Ajndas PPays ¥ M «8,TST X 8,68 AJ019B) [931S 3 o1 T| uoonnsuod| 9€6T/4T/0T| /1 YOEBTT
005°8S$ adeJed 2l jgnd [991s g Dl T| uondnaisuod|  9E6T/0E/Y VEGLTT
L OWES, uonippe Alois-T| uonanasuod| Q€6T/1Z/TT g4zeor
ppays plem G 03§ 0} UoNIppY| UodNIISUOD|  6Z6T/TT/L g ¥S
Auedwo) Sulpjing AjlunJas (uan13 oyul Jayiny ou) uoiippy| uononisuo) 8C6T/E/v gee9€
SO UOJ| |BIIUSD adeasa auiy Aemurels| uononnsuod| 9z6T/72/z1 9/01E
(UanIB ojul Jayliny ou) uonippy| uoannsuod|  9z6T/ST/z T€L2
uolsuyorsr uoljoadsul dujguinid Suiqun|d| 6T6T/0T/01 SE8Y

anjep w4 _

1019e43U0))

_ Jaauidu] _ 12)UYIY _

auoq ag 01 j40Mm

_u_ELm."_ jo ma>._._ panss| ajeq _a uoII3s * # Hwadg

'sioul||l ‘paopdoy jo Ay suys jo Juswdojaaag Jwouoag
Pue Ajjunwwo) o Juawiiedaq ayi Jo UOISINQ SRIIAISS JUSWAO[aASQ UOKINIISUOD BY) JO SIJIJ Y} W) UDHE] SEM 3]qR} 3uimo||oj 3y} ul papnjaul uociiewIoOU|

pioppdoy jo Awd

19335 320y je Auedwo) uew|od-1aqieg 10} SPI0IY I Suipjing




000'TS "0D) "7 ¥R43A3 8uip|ing }oq A101S-%T 05T X 8 Y22IM| uondnasuod|  8yeT/LT/v g98L£TT
duipjing

000'TS Auedwo) Buipjing Ajanaas 98e.015S |10 %20|q JUBWID 1@ ¥ILg T| uonaNIsSUC) 8¥61/6/t VYS/19T
.sue|d wooJ suineaal

000°SS Auedwo) Suip|ing Auinaag a1ealid,, | Joj uonIppe 2935 @ Yo1q AIOIS-T ,zS X TS| uonanasuod|  8v6T/LZ/T T g8£zzT

000°sS Auedwo) Suip|ing A311n23g uonippe A101s Yig [931s Ya11q 8 X 8¢ | uonanaisuod| 9v61/vz/0T S g966VTT
801340 pue doys aulydew ussmiaq

008% Auedwo) 8uipjing Alindag Aemadessed 321q A103s-T ,zZ X ,ST| UolONNSUOD| 9¥6T/HT/0T 9E6YTT
doys = aoiy40
ZulaauiBua ‘uonippe |231s pue ¥20|q

ooo‘szs Auedwo) Buipjing Ajunoas Juawa2 youg Alols y1g 621 X, TT.b4| uonanisuon 9%6T/SZ/E g 96€TTT
28e101s g Sswool

000‘€S Auedwo) Bulpjing Ajunaag 12%20] “13]10} 1o} uoiIppe AI0IS-T 16 X ,pT| UonaNAIsUOD|  SHET/TE/8 91 492801
7. I9T X 7,19 ‘doys

000CTS Auedwo) Bulp|ing A1indas| ppays piem Jieda. 13 a8eJed [991s 13 g AI03s-T| UORINASUOD SYeT/L/L VOr8yT
wP.6ST X ,9,8€

005°€S Auedwo) Suipjing Ajndas ‘a8e.ed sesho|dwsa yo0|q JUaWaI Al0ls-T| UONINIISUO) SYeT/L/L VGESHT
«9,8€

000°sS Auedwo) Sulp|ing Alundas X ,£,06T ‘@8e1ed saahojdwa y20|q Juawar| uonaniisuon YP6e1/LT/L VOE9HT
B119124B) 10}
3p|q Aemauesd Juasaud ul Jooj} 91840U0

00S‘1S Auedwo) Buipjing Ajlanaas 18 |933s AJ03s puz 0 X ,ZZ 19NJ15U0D)| UOIIINIISUOD vre1/¥1/9 6T 8958101
siaquiy uo jue|d

00518 Auedwo) Buipjing Ayunaasg . - 4001 [3ARI3 pue Jey ‘[lem youg ,zT| uononiisuon vr6e1/9/v 90E00T
SWES 19A0 J00U 12NJISU0D
[|EM 30110 1% T {100}} JUSWAD g suoliied
320(Qq UBW@ ‘€T 7§ 7T 'SI95 Uaamiaq

00S°1S SWO00J J2330] 73 313|101 404 SUONIMIEd| UOIDNIISUOD|  E¥6T/6/TT| €T ‘TT a1066
2A0(e Ysaw aJim pue uoljjed
Y31y ,z 40|} WIWII - SWOOJ 13)20| g

0SS Auedwo) Suip|ing Ajlundas 123|101 Joj apiaoad 01 Auod|eq 03 UOISUSIXT | UOIIDNIISUCD EH6T/6/TT 9£066
(auiuezzaw 31342u0d
® 12215) 3p|q ayeg - {uid yo0|q wad
‘sjlem 1adesed ‘si00)) poom mau) Suipjing

000°Z$ Auedwop 8uip|ing Alnoas Alpune| g 1aui0d MN ‘|apowal |eJaua9| UodNIISUO)| TH6ET/vZ/IT [T 91968

_ anjep HWag _ Jojpenuo) 199u18u3 1991YY _ auoQ ag 01 YoM _H_Ean_ 10 mn;h_ panss| ajeq _u uonaas | # jwiad




QUMNIHA R 49 1d U1 13padyAY § |eou1de)3| 9961/Lz/2T 60LT6
214193|3 ymeyyde|g 3uip|ing 93e40)s |981S Mau Ul 513|310 T9 |eau1d9)3|  9961/z/21T 9G6/16
3oeds Alojoey
000°SES Auedwo) Buipjing A1noas Joj apis yinos 01 ,5,TST X ,0¢ xoudde ppy| uononisuod 996T/TE/0T LT 96¢60€
JUIIB|F IMeELNIE]g .| 1531 J00|§ Y15 Bullim |ea3da|3|  9961/61/8 S 8LEDG
000°0TS Auedwo) Suipjing A31indas 20p 3uipeo| puaixa g p|ingay | uolaniisuod| S96T/ST/0T 99€T6¢
000¢S Auedwo) 8uipjing Allindas smopuim dn youg| uonnonisuod|  S96T/0£/6 a1/062Z
}29p Jood duoIXaly
000°9% Auedwo) Suissuidug jeulple) 's||lem %20|q ,ZT 9pIs }5e3 03 ,9€ X 9€ ppy| uoidnusuo)|  T96T/0T/T T av9/22
meys g Aliaysnog uoi3oadsu; duiguin|d duiquinid| 0961/6/z1| pIO 76255
214193|3 ueAy EEEIEEETT [ea143293 6S6T/1/6 €6£/9
meys 3 Alaydnog uoraadsul Buiquinid duigwn|d 6561/9/8] mau 6561/9/8
meys 13 Alayadnoq uonoadsur Suiguinig duiqun|d|  856T/6/9| pio T0L8Y
uoioadsur Buiquinid uiqun|d| £S6T/PT/TT S¥S9E
0000TS Auedwo) Suiping Alanoas PPays piem 12215 3 %20|q ‘UoIlppe ;0T X ,Z| uoi1aNIIsuo) 5s61/T/e ot 9/6TLT
giaq|ayD B SWOosSMap ‘uasje) uonadsur Suiquin|d Buiqunid| ¥56T/z/21| ppe mau SYeZY
313q||3yD 13 SWOSMAN ‘Uosje) uoaadsul Suiquinid Suiqunid| eset/et/s| .plo, 99£6¢€
d1ag||ayD '3 WOSMaN ‘uospe) 100}} Yy ‘uondadsul duiquinid 3uiquinid ZS61/8/8 T TEGLE
uoiadsul Suiquinig suiquind| zset/ze/L| .meN, LYLLE
Alojeioqe| 1oy
000'5% Auedwo) Buipjing A1undas| ppays piem 20|q '8 ¥211q ‘uollippe A101s Y19 85 X ,8Z| UOIIINIISUOD 7561/6/S S 857051
sosodund Aloloe} 1o} T 235 JO
000°0Z$ Auedwo) Buipjing Ayunoas| ppays piem pus 153 01 UOIIPPE 18315 3 ¥214g Al01s-T| UOI1INIISUO) 7561/6/S I 9920ST
uosuyor woj uoidadsul 3uiquin|d Suiqwnid| zSeT/8T/f 0E0LE
.sueid doys auiyoew
000°LS Auedwo) Buip|ing Ajindag 21eAld, | 10} UOIIPPE (9915 7 3olg AJ0IS-T 04 X ,TZ| UOIINAIISUOD|  TSET/6Z/E 81 AZEEVT
313g||ayD 13 dWOSMBN ‘uos|ie] uonadsul Suiquinid duigwin|d 1S61/8/¢ 8S6PE
31343y 3 WOSMIN ‘U0S|ieD uoiadsul uigquinid suiquinid| 0S6T/1Z/71T SYLvE
0T uonoes 0y
JJUBJIUS BAOCE $19113] WNUIWN|e (£ pue
AU BVIBId ¥V D S 5U0I3D3S U0 SUBIS JOOJ WnUIWNe 15e) usls| 6¥6T/9T/6| €T 01 'S LTCS
JL133|3 ymeLpioelg duIp|ing 32140 M3U 3JIM [BoU1I313|  6¥6T/92/8 T0TEE
Sulp|ing 22140 3935 B
000'5ZZS Auedwo) Bulp|ing Ayandas PP3US pJep | 213J0U0D ,ZGT X, TGT 1uawaseq |eryed + €| uonanisuod 8¥61/6/9 0T V8LEIT
wooJ juled 90T 3daq ‘ZT 235 01
00S'1S Auedwo) Buipjing Ajlunoas 423eaud, |uonppe y20|q Juswaa Alols-T ,£9 X ,0T,ST | uonanisuod 8vetT/ze/s I as6vZ1
_w’:_m> Wwaad _ J0jde43U0) _ FEENIEDE 13UYIY _ auoq ag 01 YoM Hiwiag jo adA .F_ panss| a1eq _n uo1das | # Hwiad




1.86S IAI3S sloul|[| UIBYLION 9T U0I123as ysijowaQ| uolonuisuod| 800Z/LT/TT 91 €0TT800¢

WODTIN

9S¥'62S S0IAI8S Sloul]]] UIdaylioN 0¢Z uo13I3S ysijowaq| uondnasuod| 800Z/LT/1T 0¢ S0TT800Z

WODTININ

000°TS Auedwo) auols malayaoy 28eJe8d e ysijowaq| uononiisuo) z00zZ/81/L /94800727

000°0£$ Auedwo) auois mamoy Suipjing swely |eldW ysijowag| uonanisuod|  zooz/v1/9 06040022
Buleo pl8
‘llemAap  8/S ‘s3] IPIS /M SI100P € ‘S|jEm

pnis _mm\um%o It __Em\:_ pue suonjilied SEEp0ael

0009% uipJedio yJen 321}JO SA0WA - [3pOWaJ 331440 JOlI31U|| UodNIIsuUo)|  866T/0E/9

009P1S Auedwo) auois malnydoy sadesed paBewep aJiy ysijowaq| uoippniisuod z661/2e/s 85-726Sd
S|aued |jem |R1aW pale|nsu|

000°0£S Auedwo) Buipjing Apunass Yum auy Aq padewep |jem 20e|day| uoilonnsuod|  066T/6/11 0/02-069
SIBJ 9AIINIAXD

000'STS Auedwo) auols mainyaoy 40} pasn sa3eled pagewep-a.iy yoaum | uononisuod| 0661/9z/0T 5/2-065d
0Z1

059°€S Auedwo) uoioniisuo) uleds X 0t ‘@3e.ed a3el01s AI01S-T ysijowaq| uonanisuo) 3861/5¢/¥ ¥8-88Sd
juswiedap Bune|d Jo) Juawiean

"Ju| 2111033 pJe||eg 131BM 31SEM 404 SJUBWBACIdWI |BILIID9|T [ea30313|  $86T/IT/9 T/6-783

9DIAJDS |ED11D3|T S,UDURY uolsialp uneld ul Jay30a. dwe gz |e214323|3 ¥261/5/9 616-783

30IAIBS 13 S3|eS J01eAR|T S, dwe] 101eA3|a uilsIxa |9poLay 221412213  ¥86T/TT/v Z55-v83

SLWB1SAS 2114 Jnewolny sulew 3unlsixa ‘siapjulids o1ewoIne 68T si2puuds| 1861/0Z/1T +66-T8d

SWa1sAs ali4 onewoiny sutew 3unsixa ‘siapjulids ojewoine gg siepjulds| 186T/0€/0T £06-184d
surew

SwalsAs aul4 oiewolny gunsixs ‘siapjulids onjewolne TZT ppy|  ssapuuds| T86T/92/0T 906-18d

000'vS uoljowsaq sioul||| uIayuon 8up|ing |einiawwod Aols-p e ysijowaq| uononisuo) 6L6T/02/9 4-v622S

006% Auedwo) uosiapuy Alogain sageJed ||e1s-9€ om) ysijowaq| uononisuo) 9/61/81/8 9-29¢/t

[anjen nwiad |

4032BJU0D)

_ J2au18u3

PIUYPIY

auoq ag 03 }Iopm

HuwLiad jo wa>._._ panssj ajeQ _t uoias | # Jwaad




HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDING SURVEY
BARBER COLMAN BUILDINGS 10, 17 & 19

IL HABS No. W0-2004-01C
IL HABS No. W0-2004-01D
IL HABS No. W0-2004-01E

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL

Rough floor plan sketches
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1908 building elevations and site plan
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1934 building elevations and site plan



FOR PLAN SEE SHEET SERIAL Me 26304

BARBER-COLMAN COMPANY

(MACHINE SHOP, HEAVY)
Rockford, Ili.

Survered Nov 12,1934

Tracng No JE305

Surveyed by 10 Perry
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Summary of interview with Jack Crandall



Interview with Jack Crandall
March 31, 2010

Mr. Crandall was Corporate Planning Administrator for Barber-Colman when he retired from the company
in the mid-1980s and worked in the facility on Rock Street for many years. The descriptions below are
based on his recollections of how things were when he worked there.

The interview was conducted by Wayne Dust, Planning Coordinator for the City of Rockford, and Ginny
Gregory, Secretary of the Rockford Historic Preservation Commission, in Rockford City Hall.

Section 10

The entire building was used for offices except parts of the first floor which were used for supportive
services. Floor-by-floor descriptions:

1. The first floor included the main reception area inside the south doors on Rock Street; offices for
personnel, purchasing, plant engineering, and security; the phone switchboard; a copying and
reproduction ares; and an area for cleaning staff that included some office space as well as room to
store cleaning supplies. The plant engineer and reproduction area were at the back (east side) of
the building. With the exception of the reception area, the entire floor was blocked off for offices
and cubicles.

2. The second floor included engineering offices and a large computer room and area for computer
programmers.  The computer room was located on the east wall and took up a fairly large
percentage of the area. It was walled off separately from the rest of the floor and separately air
conditioned as was the practice at the time.

3. The third floor housed executive offices at the center on the Rock Street side. It also included the
board room, planning office and accounting. Executive offices were true separate offices; most of
the other office space was delineated with wallooard cubicles with some being left open. Executive
offices and the board room may have had carpeting; the rest of the floor was probably tile.

All of Section 10 had central air conditioning; it was probably the only building in the complex that did.

Section 17

Mr. Crandall did not know precisely what was manufactured here from Bakelite, only that a variety of
products were. These may have included everything from the housing for electric erasers to parts for
textile machinery.

Section 19

The cafeteria housed in the small second floor level at the north end of this building included a private
dining room for executives and their guests.

The main flocr of the building was used to store materials prior to their use in Barber-Colman'’s
manufacturing operations, materials such as rolled steel.



